

Title	Language performance and auditory evoked fields in 2- to 5-year-old children
Author(s)	Yoshimura, Yuko
Citation	大阪大学, 2013, 博士論文
Version Type	VoR
URL	https://hdl.handle.net/11094/54704
rights	
Note	

Osaka University Knowledge Archive : OUKA

https://ir.library.osaka-u.ac.jp/

Osaka University

Language performance and auditory evoked fields in 2⁻ to 5-year-old children

Yuko Yoshimura,^{1,2} Mitsuru Kikuchi,³ Kiyomi Shitamichi,¹ Sanae Ueno,¹ Gerard B. Remijn,⁴ Yasuhiro Haruta,⁵ Manabu Oi,³ Toshio Munesue,³ Tsunehisa Tsubokawa,⁶ Haruhiro Higashida,³ and Yoshio Minabe¹

- 1 Department of Psychiatry and Neurobiology, Graduate School of Medical Science, Kanazawa University, Kanazawa, Japan
- 2 Higher Brain Functions & Autism Research, Department of Child Development, United Graduate School of Child Development, Osaka University, Kanazawa University and Hamamatsu University School of Medicine, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan
- 3 Research Center for Child Mental Development, Kanazawa University, 13-1 Takara-Machi, Kanazawa, Ishikawa 920-8641, Japan
- 4 International Education Center, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan
- 5 Department of MEG, Yokogawa Electric Corporation, Tokyo, Japan
- 6 Department of Anesthesiology, Graduate School of Medical Science, Kanazawa University, Kanazawa, Japan

Keywords:

language conceptual inference, magnetoencephalography, P50m, preschool children, refractoriness

CONTENTS

Abstract ······ 3
Introduction ······ 4
Materials and methods 5
Participants5
Cognitive and language performance measurements7
MEG recordings ······7
AEF stimuli and procedures9
AEF acquisition and analysis ·····11
Statistical methods ······12
Results13
AEF waveform ······13
P50m component ······14
N100m component ······15
Correlation between P50m and cognitive and language performance16
Correlation between N100m and cognitive and language performance17
Discussion ······18
Acknowledgements ······23
Abbreviations ······23
References ······24

Abstract

Language development progresses at a dramatic rate in preschool children. As rapid temporal processing of speech signals is important in daily colloquial environments, we performed magnetoencephalography (MEG) to investigate the linkage between speech-evoked responses during rapid-rate stimulus presentation (interstimulus interval < 1 s) and language performance in 2⁻ to 5⁻ year-old children (n = 59). Our results indicated that syllables with this short stimulus interval evoked detectable P50m, but not N100m, in most participants, indicating a marked influence of longer neuronal refractory period for stimulation. The results of equivalent dipole estimation showed that the intensity of the P50m component in the left hemisphere was positively correlated with language performance (conceptual inference ability). The observed positive correlations were suggested to reflect the maturation of synaptic organisation or axonal maturation and myelination underlying the acquisition of linguistic abilities. The present study is among the first to use MEG to study brain maturation pertaining to language abilities in preschool children.

Introduction

Language acquisition in early life is one of the most fundamental human traits, and the developmental changes obviously occur in the brain (Sakai, 2005). Children aged 2–4 years show especially remarkable development in a number of important higher-order brain functions and cognitive abilities with significant changes in brain functions associated with language performance (Le Normand, 1986; Burt et al., 1999). Recent electrophysiological studies support the suggestion that these language abilities undergo further development in a continuous manner from infant to adulthood (Friederici, 2005). However, few studies have investigated brain functional development associated with language ability in young infants. The purpose of this study is to investigate the brain response to auditory stimuli and language ability in preschool children using magnetoencephalography (MEG).

Magnetoencephalography is a non-invasive neuroimaging technique that provides measures of cortical neural activity on a millisecond time scale with high spatial resolution. MEG is also well suited for studying basic auditory activity, as cortical generators of evoked auditory responses are favourably positioned to produce strong currents for MEG recordings (Edgar et al., 2003) even in children (Paetau et al., 1995; Huotilainen et al., 2008). In addition, magnetic field patterns evoked by auditory stimuli are limited to one hemisphere, whereas electrical potentials recorded by electroencephalography (EEG) summate at the vertex and generate only one maximum on the head surface. This property of MEG is particularly advantageous in studies where the activities from left and right auditory cortices must be investigated separately, which is suitable to investigate into the brain lateralised function associated with language processing.

In MEG studies, auditory evoked magnetic fields (AEFs) corresponding to P50 and

N100 reported in EEG studies have been labeled as P50m and N100m, respectively. P50(m) is a prominent component with shorter interstimulus intervals (ISIs) in children aged 1–10 years old (Ponton et al., 2002; Oram Cardy et al., 2004; Gilley et al., 2005), which provides insight into the development of auditory processing in real-world environments (i.e. auditory information at rapid rates) in preschool children. Despite the importance of fast temporal processing in real-world environments (Lalor & Foxe, 2010), however, there have been only a few studies involving the recording of auditory evoked responses in preschool children at rapid rates (ISI < 1000 ms; Gilley et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2005). Previous studies did not focus on correlations between auditory evoked responses with short ISI (< 1000 ms) and language performance in children.

The first aim of the present study was to verify the finding that syllables with short ISIs evoke detectable P50m but poorly detectable N100m in 2⁻ to 5-year-old children, which was predicted by a previous study in older children (Rojas et al., 1998). Second, we further examined the tentative hypothesis that the prominence of syllable-evoked P50m with short ISI (818 ms) is associated with language ability in 2⁻ to 5-year-old children. That is, we expected that diminished (i.e. low-amplitude) syllable-evoked P50m could be a precursor of poorer language ability in 2⁻ to 5-year-old children.

Materials and methods

Participants

Sixty-three right-handed children (34 female and 29 male) were recruited for this study. Four of them could not continue MEG recording because they felt bored and did not wish to undergo the measurements. The remaining 59 participants (31 female, 28 male) had a mean age of 48.6 months (SD \pm 8.5), and ranged in age from 33 to 64 months (92% of participants fell within the range of 3–4 years old). All participants were native

Japanese, and had no previous or existing developmental, learning or behavioural problems according to information obtained by a questionnaire completed by their parents. All children participated in cognitive tasks and MEG measurements separately over a period of 2 days. On the first day, participants performed cognitive tests and were introduced to the environment used for MEG measurement. The actual MEG measurements were performed on the second day. Parents agreed to their child's participation in the study with full knowledge of the experimental nature of the research. Written informed consent was obtained prior to participation in this study. The Ethics Committee of Kanazawa University Hospital approved the methods and procedures, all of which were performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Demographic data for all participants are presented in Table 1.

Table 1 Demographic characteristics of all participants

Number of subjects	59
Age (range)	48.6 months (3364)
Gender (M/F)	28/31
K-ABC mental processing scale (± SD)	$100.3 (\pm 13.2)$
K-ABC achievement scale (± SD)	105.3 (± 16.7)*
Head circumference (range)	50.1 cm (46.6–54.0)

* Two subjects were not available for assessment of achievement scale because they were younger than 36 month old (*i.e.*, n = 57). K-ABC, Kaufman Assessment Battery for Children.

Cognitive and language performance measurements

The children performed the Japanese adaptation of the Kaufman Assessment Battery for Children (K-ABC), which assesses cognitive skills of children aged 30–155 months. To confirm the standardized score of the mental processing scale and the achievement scale in children, subtests complementary to the children's age were used in this battery. As we were especially interested in the relations between AEF and development of language performance in children, we used each raw score of the subtests 'number recall', 'expressive vocabulary' and 'riddles' in this battery. 'Number recall' reflects the ability of language phonological repetition, 'expressive vocabulary' reflects the expressive ability to speak the correct names of objects and illustrations, and 'riddles' reflects language conceptual inference ability (Kaufman & Kaufman, 1983).

MEG recordings

Magnetoencephalography data were recorded with a 151-channel Superconducting Quantum Interference Device (SQUID), whole-head coaxial gradiometer MEG system for children (PQ 1151R; Yokogawa/KIT, Kanazawa, Japan) in a magnetically shielded room (Daido Steel, Nagoya, Japan), installed at the MEG Centre of Yokogawa Electric Corporation (Kanazawa, Japan). The custom child-sized MEG system allows measurement of the brain responses in young children, which would be difficult with conventional adult-sized MEG systems. The child MEG system ensures that sensors are easily and effectively positioned within the range of the brain and that head movement is well constrained (Johnson et al., 2010). We determined the position of the head within the helmet by measuring the magnetic fields after passing currents through coils attached at three locations on the head surface as fiduciary points with respect to the landmarks (bilateral mastoid processes and nasion). Although we could not take into account how the individual head shape would influence the accuracy of dipole

 $\mathbf{7}$

estimation, to calculate equivalent current dipoles (ECD) without magnetic resonance imaging anatomical data, a sphere as a spherical model of the volume conductor was fitted to the centre of the helmet after confirmation that the head of each subject was located in the centre of the MEG helmet by measuring three locations on the surface of the head as described above (Fig. 1A). To assess the individual locations of ECDs for each individual head, we employed a coordinate system in which the midpoint of the bilateral mastoid processes is the origin, and positive values on the x⁻, y⁻ and z⁻axes represent the leftward direction, the occipital direction and the vertex, respectively (Fig. 1B). An examiner remained in the room to encourage children and to prevent movement throughout measurements. Stimuli were presented while children lay in the supine position on the bed and viewed silent video programs projected onto a screen.





AEF stimuli and procedures

Magnetoencephalography recordings were obtained from all participants during auditory syllable sound stimulation consisting of the Japanese syllable/ne/(Fig. 2). We employed this syllable because/ne/is one of the Japanese sentence final particles carrying prosodic information (Cook, 1990; Anderson et al., 2007). The syllable/ne/is often used in Japanese mother-child conversation, and it expresses the speaker's request for acknowledgement or empathy from the listener (Kajikawa et al., 2004; Squires, 2009). In the present study, we used typical oddball sequences consisting of standard stimuli at a rate of 83% (456 times) and deviant stimuli at a rate of 17% (90 times). In the standard stimulus, /ne/was pronounced with a steady pitch contour (Fig. 2), whereas in the deviant condition/ne/had a falling pitch. Eventually, we adopted only standard stimuli for subsequent ECD estimation, because only for these stimuli sufficient numbers of periods to calculate ECD remained after rejection of artefacts in all children. The/ne/sounds were produced by a female native Japanese speaker and recorded for stimulus presentation with a condenser microphone (NT1-A; Rode, Silverwater, NSW, Australia) onto a personal computer. The duration of the stimulus was 342 ms, and the duration of consonant/n/was 65 ms. In this study, the beginning of the vowel sound/e/was defined as the onset time (Fig. 2). ISI was 818 ms at a level of approximately 65 dB (A-weighted) against a background noise of 43 dB on average as measured with an integrating sound level meter (LY20; Yokogawa, Tokyo, Japan). The stimulus was carried to participants binaurally through a hole in the MEG chamber using speakers (HK195 Speakers; Harman Kardon, Stamford, CT, USA) placed outside the shielded room. The stimulus was presented for 12 min.



Fig.2. Waveform of the/ne/speech stimulus. The total duration was 342 ms, with 65 ms for the consonant/n/and 277 ms for the post-consonantal vowel sound/e/. The onset time for MEG averaging was set at the start of the vowel.

AEF acquisition and analysis

The participant's head was placed in a whole-head dewar, in which 151 magnetic sensors were arranged concentrically. MEG data were acquired with a sampling rate of 1000 Hz and filtered with a 200 Hz low-pass filter. Time series around the onset of the syllable stimulus from) 150 to 1000 ms and segments (at least 300 for standard stimuli) were averaged for each of the sensors after baseline correction (-50 to 0 ms). Segments contaminated by artefacts (eye-blink, eye-movement and body movement, typically over ± 4 pT) were excluded from the analysis. The single ECD model was used to estimate the current sources in the activated cerebral cortex over 42 sensors for each emisphere (Elberling et al., 1982). For identification of the P50m component, we accepted estimated ECDs when: (i) the goodness of fit exceeded 90%, during the target period of the response; (ii) the location of estimated dipoles with the single ECD model was stabilised within ± 5 mm of each coordinate for at least 6 ms; and (iii) dipole intensities were ≤ 80 nA. ECDs were estimated using 42 channels each over the left and right hemisphere. The time point was identified as the latency, when the estimated dipole intensity value had reached a maximum and met the above criteria within the time window from 40 to 150 ms. An N100m component was defined as detectable when: (i) a response occurred after a detectable P50m within 210 ms after onset of the stimulus; (ii) its magnetic field showed a sign opposite to that of P50m; and (iii) the peak of a plausible N100 magnetic field could be discriminated from that of the following sustained field. In addition, we accepted estimated ECDs only when they fulfilled the same criteria of ECDs for the P50m as described above.

Statistical methods

First, to evaluate the relationships between log-transformed dipole intensity (or latency) and the K-ABC subtest scores on language performance (i.e. 'number recall', 'expressive vocabulary' and 'riddles'), a Pearson's correlation coefficient was used. Second, a hierarchical regression analysis was used to investigate the association between the P50m component and the language-related sub-score(s) in which significant correlations were found, if any, in the first analysis. Separate analyses were performed to investigate the impact of such language-related sub-scores on P50m for the right and left hemisphere, respectively. In this hierarchical regression analysis, we included between-person covariates that were of theoretical importance in a study of brain development and cognitive function. These variables were age and non-verbal performance (i.e. total score of K-ABC subtests in 'face recognition' and 'hand movement'). The demographic variable (i.e. age) was entered at the first step in this model, non-verbal performance was entered at the second step, and the language-related sub-score(s) at the third step. In all analyses, P < 0.05 was taken to indicate statistical significance.

Results

AEF waveform

The standard AEF stimulus (/ne/vocal syllabic sound with a steady pitch contour) elicited obvious peaks during the time window of 40- 150 ms (i.e. P50m) for all participants in both hemispheres. Figure 3 shows the waveform and magnetic contour map of P50m in one representative subject. Predominant P50m peaks in both hemispheres were followed by sustained fields with opposite signs. Some participants showed bimodal waveforms. In cases with a trimodal waveform, the magnetic fields in the latter two peaks had the same sign.





P50m component

In the left hemisphere, 75% (44 of 59) of the participants showed detectable P50m (i.e. met the criteria for ECD) at 93 ms on average (\pm 24 ms) after the onset of the vowel (Table 2). Mean dipole intensity of detectable P50m was 19.6 nA on average (\pm 7.6 nA). In the right hemisphere, 78% (46 of 59) of the participants showed detectable P50m at about 84 ms on average (\pm 23 ms) after onset of the vowel. The mean dipole intensity of detectable P50m was 14.1 nA on average (\pm 7.0 nA). The locations of these estimated P50m dipole sources are shown in Table 2.

Hemisphere	<i>x</i> , mm (± SD)	y, mm (± SD)	<i>z</i> . mm (± SD)	GOF% (± SD)
Left	48.0 (± 9.2)	-24.1 (± 11.3)	56.3 (± 10.8)	96.3 (± 2.7)
Right	-54.9 (± 8.8)	-35.7 (± 10.6)	47.9 (± 10.7)	95.7 (± 2.5)

Table 2. Coordination of estimated P50m dipole source strengths and GOF (goodness of fit).

The midpoint of the bilateral mastoid processes is the origin. Positive values on the x-, yand z-axes indicate the leftward direction, the occipital direction and the vertex, respectively. GOF, good of fit.

N100m component

Only 24% (14 of 59) of the participants showed detectable N100m (i.e. met the criteria for ECD) in the left hemisphere at 169 ms on average (\pm 28 ms) after the onset of the vowel (Table 3). The mean dipole intensity of detectable N100m was 13.1 nA on average (\pm 7.8 nA). In the right hemisphere, 19% (11 of 59) of the participants showed detectable N100m at 162 ms on average (\pm 28 ms) after the onset of the vowel. The mean dipole intensity of detectable N100m was 14.8 nA on average (\pm 7.0 nA).

Table 3. Detectable rates of P50m and N100m ECD source and their estimated intensity and latency over participants' right and left hemispheres.

	Hemisphere	Detectable rate (number)	Intensity nA (± SD)	Latency ms (± SD)	
P50m	Left	75% (44/59)	19.6 (± 7.6)	$93 (\pm 24.3)$	
	Right	78% (46/59)	$14.1 (\pm 7.0)$	84 (± 23.0)	
N100m	Left	24% (14/59)	$13.1(\pm 7.8)$	$169 (\pm 28.3)$	
	Right	19% (11/59)	14.8 (± 7.0)	162 (± 27.8)	

Correlation between P50m and cognitive and language performances

Pearson's tests showed a significant positive correlation between P50m intensity in the left hemisphere and performance of the K-ABC language subtest 'riddles' (n = 44, r =0.33, P = 0.02; Fig. 4; Table 4), whereas this correlation was not significant with other K-ABC language subtests [i.e. 'number recall' (n = 44, r = 0.08, P = 0.59) and 'expressive vocabulary' (n = 44, r = 0.06, P = 0.67). P50m latency of either hemisphere was not related to K-ABC subtests related to language performance. Next, a hierarchical regression analysis examining the relationship between P50m intensity in the left hemisphere and performance of the K-ABC language subtest 'riddles' was conducted. As shown in Table 4, the hierarchical multiple regression model revealed that the K-ABC 'riddle' language subtest performance was significantly and independently associated with P50m dipole intensity in the left hemisphere at the final step (Table 4; step 3, $\angle R$ $^2 = 0.187$, F1,40 = 9.270, P = 0.004), whereas other variables (i.e. age and nonverbal performance) did not reach statistical significance at any step (Table 4). Among these variables we found correlation coefficients of 0.503, 0.385 and 0.575 between the 'riddle' sub-score and age, the 'riddle' sub-score and non-verbal performance, and age and nonverbal performance, respectively. As a complementary analysis, we compared the performances of three language-related K-ABC subtests between the P50m detectable group (n = 44) and undetectable group (n = 15), but no significant differences were observed.



Fig.4. Scatterplot for the log-transformed P50m intensity in the left hemisphere (x-axis) and performance of 'language conceptual inference' (y-axis)

Table 4.	Hierarchical	regression	analysis	summary	for	P50m	intensity,	on	age,	non-verbal
performa	nce and a lan	guage-relat	ed K-ABC	C subtest "r	iddl	les".				

	Left				Right				
	¢				р р			/ .	
	Step 1	Step 2	Sucp 3	r in step 3	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	r in step 3	
Age (months) Non-verbal performance Riddles	-0.012	0.37 0.85	0.177 0.222 0.534++	-0.943 -1.235 3.045	-0.124	-0.292 0.274	-0.235 0.277 -0.107	-1.126 1.492 -0.605	
Number of subjects	44	a villen i fan en	ndiges a reference in the first freeze in the	44 - 44 - 44 - 44 - 44 - 44 - 44 - 44	47	анашылын К. И. төрт Мет Ауны, Фулду Жайуун Кута	Allan an Changel and a set a second and	9999 af de la constanti de la c	
R Adjusted R ² AR ²	0.012 -0.024 0.000	0.071 0.044 0.005	0.438 0.132 0.187**		0.124 0.006 0.015	0.250 0.020 0.047	0.265 0.006 0.008	μ ^α	

 $^{\bullet \bullet P} < 0.01.$

Correlation between N100m and cognitive and language performance

Pearson's tests showed no significant correlation between N100m components in both hemisphere and performance of any K-ABC subtests related to language performance.

Discussion

In terms of brain functional development associated with language ability in 2⁻ to 5-year-old children, this is the first report demonstrating the significance of left-hemispheric responsiveness of the auditory system using a method with high spatiotemporal resolution (i.e. MEG). The present study also provides new evidence to address the missing link of AEF dipole source analysis in infants aged 2-5 years, which is a challenging age for brain-imaging methods. Furthermore, for this research, we employed a child-customised MEG in which the sensors were as close to the whole head as possible for optimal recording. In the present study, we demonstrated that P50m dipole intensity in the left hemisphere is a significant predictor of language performance in preschool children. The results also showed that P50m was morphologically the most prominent component. This is consistent with previous study indicating prominent P50 instead of N100 in young children (Ponton et al., 2002; Oram Cardy et al., 2004; Gilley et al., 2005), and a previous study demonstrating that only 20% of 3 to 4 year-old children showed a detectable N100 · P200 complex with short ISI conditions of < 1 s (Gilley et al., 2005). Accordingly, P50m seems to be an easily detectable component for assessment of auditory processing in real-world environments (i.e. auditory information at rapid rates) in young children. Although amplitudes of P50m have been reported to decrease as a function of age especially after 10 years old (Ponton et al., 2000, 2002; Gilley et al., 2005), the present results did not show significant correlations between chronological age and amplitude or latency of P50m. The relatively small age range of the children (33–64 months) in our experiment may have contributed to a reduction in amplitude or latency variation due to age differences. P50m components in the present study may have been markedly influenced by the longer neuronal refractory period for stimulation because of the short ISI. Although

long ISIs would enhance the amplitude of auditory evoked responses and improve the signal-to-noise ratio, we specifically employed this short ISI. Most of the sound information encountered in daily life, such as speech signals, occurs at rapid rates. To investigate childhood auditory functions in real-world environments, we employed speech stimuli with a short ISI despite the considerable refractoriness that this causes. As age related changes in myelination, synaptic refinement and cortical fibre density (Salamy, 1978; Huttenlocher & Dabholkar, 1997; Moore & Guan, 2001; Brauer et al., 2011) underlie the age-related changes in amplitude and refractoriness of P50m components, it is possible that a lower P50m amplitude indicates immaturity of the central auditory system. If this is the case, the observed positive correlation between P50m amplitude in the left hemisphere and the preschoolers' performance on the 'riddles' task (i.e. language conceptual inference) in the present study may reflect the maturation of synaptic organisation that forms the basis of linguistic acquisition in preschool children.

The dipole source of P50m is located in the primary auditory cortex and is an earlier component in the processing stream recorded by MEG (Pelizzone et al., 1987; Reite et al., 1988; Makela et al., 1994; Yoshiura et al., 1995; Onitsuka et al., 2000). Thus, P50m itself is thought to be a suitable candidate for the role of auditory input change detector for speech-like signals (Hertrich et al., 2000; Chait et al., 2004). In fact, a recent study provided evidence that P50m is sensitive to place-of-articulation features of speech and their co-articulatory processes (Tavabi et al., 2007). Furthermore, P50m evoked in the left hemisphere may already be involved in a long range brain network that contributes to language performance, because previous physiological studies indicated that the link between auditory perception and vocal production is quite rapid and connects within quite short periods. For example, Howard, Brugge and co-workers used depth electrode stimulation and electrophysiological recording in neurosurgical patients to explore the

evoked responses and connectivity in a circuit involving primary auditory cortex, posterior lateral superior temporal, inferior frontal gyrus and orofacial motor cortex (Howard et al., 2000; Brugge et al., 2003; Greenlee et al., 2004). Their studies suggested that, within 40 ms after stimulus onset, a sound already has an impact on neural activity in orofacial motor cortex through the posterior lateral superior temporal and inferior frontal gyrus (Patterson & Johnsrude, 2008). These rapid linkages among language related brain areas are consistent with previous anatomical studies indicating the intimate connections among these areas (Pandya & Seltzer, 1982; Seltzer & Pandya, 1991; Yeterian & Pandya, 1998; Petrides & Pandya, 2002; Patterson & Johnsrude, 2008). The suggestion that the P50m component may be involved in a long-range brain network modulating language performance is further supported by a recent study demonstrating that the P50m amplitude was enhanced after a phonological intervention program on the brain function of 6 to 7 year-old children diagnosed with specific language impairment (Pihko et al., 2007). These observations suggest that the P50m amplitude reflects plastic changes in the brain activities underlying the basis of the language system. In addition, it is worth noting that the synaptic density in the auditory cortex reaches a plateau at about age 10 years, followed by a rapid decrease (Huttenlocher & Dabholkar, 1997), and the same developmental trajectory was reported in P50 amplitudes (Ponton et al., 2000; Gilley et al., 2005), which would be strongly dependent on the number of pyramidal cell synapses contributing postsynaptic potentials.

In the present study, we employed 'number recall', 'expressive vocabulary' and 'riddles' subtests in K-ABC to assess the language abilities of 2- to 5-year-old children (Kaufman & Kaufman, 1983). However, only the 'riddles' subtest was a significant predictor of P50m dipole intensity in the left hemisphere (Table 4; Fig. 4). This result suggested that P50m dipole intensity in the left hemisphere was not sufficient to explain the

 $\mathbf{20}$

correlation with general language ability as we initially mentioned as our hypothesis. On the other hand, this was also an intriguing result, because this 'riddle' subtest requires higher brain functions compared with the other two language-related subtests. i.e. simple repetition or simple naming tasks. In this 'riddle' subtest, children were required to retrieve a target word according to suggested words that were conceptually associated with the target word. Correct answers must be represented in long-term memory as a network of associations among concepts and can be retrieved by spreading activation through the network structure (Anderson, 1983; Roelofs, 1992). In general, this subtest evaluates the development of conceptual formation and conceptual inference as well as word retrieval ability. In this context, this 'riddle' subtest requires efficient brain networks among regions that contribute to the representation of conceptual knowledge. Recent neuroimaging studies in adult subjects also support the importance of efficient brain networks for these types of ability. With regard to conceptual formation, a modality-specific account of conceptual knowledge organization was recently reported (Martin, 2007; Kiefer et al., 2008; Marques et al., 2008), which suggested that an efficient brain network among widely distributed areas involved in conceptual knowledge is crucial to infer correct answers that must be found in one of the modality-specific brain regions. With regard to word retrieval, a recent study demonstrated the importance of brain connectivity between the left ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and the posterior temporal and perhaps other cortical areas (Martin, 2007). Accordingly, it is reasonable to assume that the brain maturation processes involving myelination, synaptic refinement and cortical fibre density contribute to language ability – especially to conceptual inference, which requires higher brain function - in young children. The present study had the general limitation that we investigated P50m with only one short ISI (818 ms). Therefore, we cannot conclude whether P50m generation or refractoriness crucially reflects neuronal maturation.

Further studies with longer ISIs are therefore necessary to reduce the effects of refractoriness. However, even our short ISI resulted in the total MEG recording time being too long (12 min) for some children. Recent advances in head position calculation and correction of head movement (Uutela et al., 2001), however, may resolve this issue. Another limitation arises from the ECD criteria set for reliable ECD detection. In cases where estimated ECDs were rejected based on these criteria, we could not conclude whether it is because of truly lower neural response or higher noise. In this study, participants were monitored with a video camera that allowed us to detect obvious body movement. The examiner who accompanied children in the shielded room also instructed participants to keep the position of their head constant throughout the experiment. However, the influence of the fine movement of the head and variability in the head shape could not be taken into account in the present study.

Despite these limitations, this is the first study to demonstrate a correlation between detectable P50m dipole intensity with short ISI (818 ms) and language conceptual inference performance in preschool children.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Ishikawa High-Tech Sensing Cluster Grant (Knowledge Cluster Initiative from the Japanese Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology). The authors wish to thank the children and their parents for participating in this study, H. Gotou, S. Matsukura, K. Kazami, M. Mochizuki and E. Okumura from Yokogawa Electric Inc. for technical assistance, and Dr Nida, Prof. Matsui, Prof. Kojima, K. Nagao, T. Hirosawa and S. Hidaka for helpful comments.

Abbreviations

AEF, auditory evoked magnetic field; ECD, equivalent current dipole; EEG, electroencephalography; ISI, interstimulus interval; K-ABC, Kaufman Assessment Battery for Children; MEG, magnetoencephalography.

References

- Anderson, J.R. (1983) Retrieval of information from long-term memory. Science, 220, 25–30.
- Anderson, V., Hiramoto, M. & Wong, A. (2007) Prosodic analysis of the interactional particle Ne in Japanese gendered speech. Jpn/Korean Linguistics, 15, 43–54.
- Brauer, J., Anwander, A. & Friederici, A.D. (2011) Neuroanatomical prerequisites for language functions in the maturing brain. Cereb. Cortex, 21, 459–466.
- Brugge, J.F., Volkov, I.O., Garell, P.C., Reale, R.A. & Howard, M.A. III (2003) Functional connections between auditory cortex on Heschl's gyrus and on the lateral superior temporal gyrus in humans. J. Neurophysiol., 90, 3750–3763.
- Burt, L., Holm, A. & Dodd, B. (1999) Phonological awareness skills of 4-yearold British children: an assessment and developmental data. Int. J. Lang. Commun. Disord., 34, 311–335.
- Chait, M., Simon, J.Z. & Poeppel, D. (2004) Auditory M50 and M100 responses to broadband noise: functional implications. Neuroreport, 15, 2455–2458.
- Cook, H.M. (1990) The Sentence-Final Particle Ne as a Tool for Cooperation in Japanese Conversation. The Stanford Linguistic Association, Stanford.
- Edgar, J.C., Huang, M.X., Weisend, M.P., Sherwood, A., Miller, G.A., Adler, L.E. & Canive, J.M. (2003) Interpreting abnormality: an EEG and MEG study of P50 and the auditory paired-stimulus paradigm. Biol. Psychol., 65, 1–20.
- Elberling, C., Bak, C., Kofoed, B., Lebech, J. & Saermark, K. (1982) Auditory magnetic fields from the human cerebral cortex: location and strength of an equivalent current dipole. Acta Neurol. Scand., 65, 553–569.
- Friederici, A.D. (2005) Neurophysiological markers of early language acquisition: from syllables to sentences. Trends Cogn. Sci., 9, 481–488.

- Gilley, P.M., Sharma, A., Dorman, M. & Martin, K. (2005) Developmental changes in refractoriness of the cortical auditory evoked potential. Clin. Neurophysiol., 116, 648– 657.
- Greenlee, J.D., Oya, H., Kawasaki, H., Volkov, I.O., Kaufman, O.P., Kovach, C., Howard, M.A. & Brugge, J.F. (2004) A functional connection between inferior frontal gyrus and orofacial motor cortex in human. J. Neurophysiol., 92, 1153–1164.
- Hertrich, I., Mathiak, K., Lutzenberger, W. & Ackermann, H. (2000) Differential impact of periodic and aperiodic speech-like acoustic signals on magnetic M50/M100 fields. Neuroreport, 11, 4017–4020.
- Howard, M.A., Volkov, I.O., Mirsky, R., Garell, P.C., Noh, M.D., Granner, M., Damasio,
 H., Steinschneider, M., Reale, R.A., Hind, J.E. & Brugge, J.F. (2000) Auditory cortex
 on the human posterior superior temporal gyrus. J. Comp. Neurol., 416, 79–92.
- Huotilainen, M., Shestakova, A. & Hukki, J. (2008) Using magnetoencephalography in assessing auditory skills in infants and children. Int. J. Psychophysiol., 68, 123–129.
- Huttenlocher, P.R. & Dabholkar, A.S. (1997) Regional differences in synaptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. J. Comp. Neurol., 387, 167–178.
- Johnson, B.W., Crain, S., Thornton, R., Tesan, G. & Reid, M. (2010) Measurement of brain function in pre-school children using a custom sized whole-head MEG sensor array. Clin. Neurophysiol., 121, 340–349.
- Kajikawa, S., Amano, S. & Kondo, T. (2004) Speech overlap in Japanese mother-child conversations. J. Child Lang., 31, 215–230.
- Kaufman, A. & Kaufman, N. (1983) Kaufman Assessment Battery for Children: Administration and Scoring Manual. American Guidance Service, Circle Pines, MN.
- Kiefer, M., Sim, E.J., Herrnberger, B., Grothe, J. & Hoenig, K. (2008) The sound of concepts: four markers for a link between auditory and conceptual brain systems. J. Neurosci., 28, 12224–12230.

- Lalor, E.C. & Foxe, J.J. (2010) Neural responses to uninterrupted natural speech can be extracted with precise temporal resolution. Eur. J. Neurosci., 31, 189–193.
- Le Normand, M.T. (1986) A developmental exploration of language used to accompany symbolic play in young, normal children (2-4 years old). Child Care Health Dev., 12, 121–134.
- Makela, J.P., Hamalainen, M., Hari, R. & McEvoy, L. (1994) Whole-head mapping of middle-latency auditory evoked magnetic fields. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol., 92, 414–421.
- Marques, J.F., Canessa, N., Siri, S., Catricala, E. & Cappa, S. (2008) Conceptual knowledge in the brain: fMRI evidence for a featural organization. Brain Res., 1194, 90-99.
- Martin, A. (2007) The representation of object concepts in the brain. Annu. Rev. Psychol., 58, 25–45.
- Moore, J.K. & Guan, Y.L. (2001) Cytoarchitectural and axonal maturation in human auditory cortex. J. Assoc. Res. Otolaryngol., 2, 297–311.
- Onitsuka, T., Ninomiya, H., Sato, E., Yamamoto, T. & Tashiro, N. (2000) The effect of interstimulus intervals and between block rests on the auditory evoked potential and magnetic field: is the auditory P50 in humans an overlapping potential? Clin. Neurophysiol., 111, 237–245.
- Oram Cardy, J.E., Ferrari, P., Flagg, E.J., Roberts, W. & Roberts, T.P. (2004) Prominence of M50 auditory evoked response over M100 in childhood and autism. Neuroreport, 15, 1867–1870.
- Paetau, R., Ahonen, A., Salonen, O. & Sams, M. (1995) Auditory evoked magnetic fields to tones and pseudowords in healthy children and adults. J. Clin. Neurophysiol., 12, 177–185.
- Pandya, D.N. & Seltzer, B. (1982) Intrinsic connections and architectonics of posterior

parietal cortex in the rhesus monkey. J. Comp. Neurol., 204, 196-210.

- Patterson, R.D. & Johnsrude, I.S. (2008) Functional imaging of the auditory processing applied to speech sounds. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B, Biol. Sci., 363, 1023–1035.
- Pelizzone, M., Hari, R., Makela, J.P., Huttunen, J., Ahlfors, S. & Hamalainen, M. (1987) Cortical origin of middle-latency auditory evoked responses in man. Neurosci. Lett., 82, 303–307.
- Petrides, M. & Pandya, D.N. (2002) Comparative cytoarchitectonic analysis of the human and the macaque ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and corticocortical connection patterns in the monkey. Eur. J. Neurosci., 16, 291–310.
- Pihko, E., Mickos, A., Kujala, T., Pihlgren, A., Westman, M., Alku, P., Byring, R. & Korkman, M. (2007) Group intervention changes brain activity in bilingual language-impaired children. Cereb. Cortex, 17, 849–858.
- Ponton, C.W., Eggermont, J.J., Don, M., Waring, M.D., Kwong, B., Cunningham, J. & Trautwein, P. (2000) Maturation of the mismatch negativity: effects of profound deafness and cochlear implant use. Audiol. Neurootol., 5, 167–185.
- Ponton, C., Eggermont, J.J., Khosla, D., Kwong, B.&Don, M. (2002) Maturation of human central auditory system activity: separating auditory evoked potentials by dipole source modeling. Clin. Neurophysiol., 113, 407–420.
- Reite, M., Teale, P., Zimmerman, J., Davis, K. & Whalen, J. (1988) Source location of a 50 msec latency auditory evoked field component. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol., 70, 490–498.
- Roelofs, A. (1992) A spreading-activation theory of lemma retrieval in speaking. Cognition, 42, 107–142.
- Rojas, D.C., Walker, J.R., Sheeder, J.L., Teale, P.D. & Reite, M.L. (1998) Developmental changes in refractoriness of the neuromagnetic M100 in children. Neuroreport, 9, 1543–1547.

Sakai, K.L. (2005) Language acquisition and brain development. Science, 310, 815-819.

Salamy, A. (1978) Commissural transmission: maturational changes in humans. Science, 200, 1409–1411.

- Seltzer, B. & Pandya, D.N. (1991) Post-rolandic cortical projections of the superior temporal sulcus in the rhesus monkey. J. Comp. Neurol., 312, 625-640.
- Squires, T. (2009) A discourse Anlysis of the Japanese Particle sa. Pragmatics, 4, 1-29.
- Tavabi, K., Obleser, J., Dobel, C. & Pantev, C. (2007) Auditory evoked fields differentially encode speech features: an MEG investigation of the P50m and N100m time courses during syllable processing. Eur. J. Neurosci., 25, 3155 – 3162.
- Uutela, K., Taulu, S. & Hamalainen, M. (2001) Detecting and correcting for head movements in neuromagnetic measurements. Neuroimage, 14, 1424-1431.
- Wang, W., Datta, H. & Sussman, E. (2005) The development of the length of the temporal window of integration for rapidly presented auditory information as indexed by MMN. Clin. Neurophysiol., 116, 1695–1706.
- Yeterian, E.H.& Pandya, D.N. (1998) Corticostriatal connections of the superior temporal region in rhesus monkeys. J. Comp. Neurol., 399, 384-402.
- Yoshiura, T., Ueno, S., Iramina, K. & Masuda, K. (1995) Source localization of middle latency auditory evoked magnetic fields. Brain Res., 703, 139–144.